IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NICOLE STOLETZ, : Petitioner, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Respondent. : .

Case No.SC03-168

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT D. ROSEN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0826065

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 26, 1999, the state attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit in and for Manatee County, Florida, filed an information against the Petitioner, Nicole Stoletz, charging her with one count of driving under the influence causing death, two counts of driving under the influence causing serious bodily injury, and one count of driving while license suspended as a habitual traffic offender. A jury trial on the first three offenses was held on March 22-28, 2001. Prior to the start of the trial, Ms. Stoletz pled no contest to count four: driving while license suspended as a habitual offender, a violation of section 322.34(5), Florida Statutes (1999), and section 322.264, Florida Statutes (1999). This offense was a third-degree felony.

The jury found Ms. Stoletz guilty on all three counts of the lesser-included misdemeanor offense of driving under the influence, a violation of section 316.193, Florida Statutes (1999).

A sentencing hearing was held on May 3, 2001. The lower court dismissed counts two and three since the law allowed only one driving under the influence (DUI) conviction for a single driving episode. The court sentenced Ms. Stoletz to five years in prison for count four and imposed a consecutive term of 12 months probation for count one. Pursuant to section 316.655, Florida Statutes (1999), the court suspended Ms. Stoletz' driver's license for life over the objection of the defense.

Ms. Stoletz filed a timely notice of appeal on May 22, 2001. On March 19, 2002, the Appellant filed a Motion to Correct Sentence in the lower court. Ms. Stoletz argued that the lifetime revocation of her driving privileges pursuant to section 316.655, Florida Statutes (1999), was erroneous because section 322.28, Florida Statutes (1999), only allowed a revocation of "not less than five years" for a second conviction for section 316.193. As Ms. Stoletz had but one prior DUI conviction, her license could only have been revoked for five years. In support of its argument, the defense cited to <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). The <u>Whipple</u> court held that in cases involving revocations of driving privileges stemming from a DUI conviction, section 322.28, the more specific statute, rather than section 316.655, "a permissive catch-all statute", controls. <u>Id</u>. at 1136. The lower court denied the Motion to Correct Sentence on May 9, 2002.

On January 17, 2003, the Second District affirmed the lifetime revocation of Ms. Stoletz' driver's license. <u>See Stoletz v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly 234 (Fla. 2d DCA January 17, 2003). The court refused to follow <u>Whipple</u> and certified conflict.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District erroneously affirmed the lower court's order revoking the Petitioner's driver's license for life. The license could only be revoked for five years under the applicable statutory scheme.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REVOKING THE APPELLANT'S DRIVER'S LICENSE FOR LIFE.

The Second District Court of appeal improperly affirmed the lower court's order revoking Ms. Stoletz' driving privileges pursuant to section 316.655, Florida Statutes (1999). The lower court should have been bound by section 322.28(2)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1999), which only allowed a revocation of five years in prison for a second DUI conviction under section 316.193. As Ms. Stoletz had but one prior DUI conviction, the lower court could only have revoked her license for five years.

In <u>Stoletz v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D234 (Fla. 2d DCA January 17, 2003), the Second District certified conflict with <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). In <u>Whipple</u>, the defendant Whipple was convicted of DUI involving serious bodily injury and his license was revoked for life under section 316.655. The Fourth District stated the following:

> The language of section 322.28 is facially clear and unambiguous. The statute specifically mandates the suspension of driving privileges for violations of section 316.193. Unlike section 322.28, section 316.655, a permissive catch-all statute, does not address periods of suspension or revocation of driving privileges stemming from a DUI conviction under section 316.193. Rather, section 316.655, provides generally for the revocation or suspension of driving privileges based on the totality of the circumstances and the violation of any offense prohibited by chapter 316 or any

law of this state. Thus, section 322.28, the more specific statute, controls in this instance.

<u>Id</u>. at 1136.

The Second District held there was no conflict between the two statutes. <u>Stoletz</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly at D234. However, the rules of statutory construction mandate that only section 322.28 can apply. Section 322.28 applies to DUI offenses. Section 316.655, a permissive catch-all statute, applies to <u>any</u> offense prohibited by chapter 316 or <u>any</u> Florida law regulating motor vehicles. As the more specific statute, one applicable to a defendant convicted of DUI under section 316.193, section 322.28 should have been applied in the present case. A well-settled rule of statutory construction states that a specific statute covering a particular subject area always controls over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms. <u>See McKendry v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 45, 46 (Fla. 1994); <u>Adams v. Culver</u>, 111 So. 2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1959). The <u>Whipple</u> court properly applied this rule.

The Second District held that because section 322.28(2)(a)2 mandates a sentence of "not less than 5 years" for a second DUI conviction, it was not inconsistent with section 316.193 since nothing in the former statute prohibits a revocation longer than five years. <u>Whipple</u> holds the opposite and in support of its holding that court cited to <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). In <u>Jackson</u>, the Fourth District affirmed a defendant's DUI convictions, but reversed the permanent revocation of his driver's license under section 322.28(2)(e), Florida Statutes (1991), on the grounds

that the statute contemplated convictions arising out of separate driving episodes, not multiple convictions arising out of one driving episode. <u>Jackson</u> applied the basic tenet of statutory construction that "statutory provisions are to be read within the context of the entire statute." <u>Id</u>. at 1106. In analyzing section 322.28, the court held:

> A reading of the fourth conviction provision in context with the second and third conviction provisions of this statute leads us to conclude that the overall scheme is for increased terms of suspension based on the number of times the defendant drives under the influence, not based on the happenstance consequences of one episode of driving under the influence. The statute increases the length of suspension each time the offender repeats the offending conduct, and when the offender does it the fourth time, his driving privileges are permanently revoked.

<u>Id</u>.

Applying <u>Jackson</u>, the <u>Whipple</u> case held that the legislature did not contemplate the permanent revocation of a driver's license without the requisite number of DUI convictions. <u>Id</u>. at 1137. The increased length of suspension or revocation is to be commensurate with the number of DUI's. Thus, under the second conviction provision, the Fourth District held that the lower court erred in imposing a permanent license revocation.

Despite the "not less than 5 years" language in 322.28(2)(a)2, both <u>Jackson</u> and <u>Whipple</u> hold that a court cannot permanently revoke a driver's license for only two DUI convictions. The Fourth District properly read that statutory provision within the context of the entire statute. Section 322.28 increases the term of revocation

б

based on the number of times a defendant is convicted of DUI. The statute's context indicates "the legislature did not contemplate the permanent revocation of a driver's license without the requisite number of DUI convictions." <u>Whipple</u>, 789 So. 2d at 1137. In <u>Stoletz</u>, the Second District failed to read section 322.28(2)(a)2 within the context of the entire statute. The Fourth District did and therefore, this Court should follow the holding in <u>Whipple</u> and overturn the Second District's holding in <u>Stoletz</u>. Ms. Stoletz' lifetime suspension can be reversed.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments, and authorities, the Respondent respectfully asks this Honorable Court to reverse the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Stoletz v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D234 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan 17, 2003).

<u>APPENDIX</u>

PAGE NO.

1.

<u>APPENDIX</u>

PAGE NO.

1. Second District Court of Appeal Opinion A1-5 filed January 17, 2003