## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NICOLE STOLETZ,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC03-168

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0238538

> RICHARD M. FISHKIN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0069965 Concourse Center 4 3507 Frontage Rd., Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813)287-7900 FAX (813)281-5500 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal is contained in numerous volumes. Reference in Respondent's brief will only be to the first volume containing the court record and the transcript of the sentencing hearing of May 3, 2001, and a supplemental record containing the transcript of a hearing on May 9, 2002 on the 3.800 motion. Reference to these documents will be (R \_\_), using the stamped numbers appearing on the lower right of the page. No reference will be made to the transcript of the trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts with the following additions and corrections:

On the issue of the Petitioner's driver's license, at the sentencing hearing, the trial court stated:

On the driver's license, the driver's license will be suspended for life. You have a lifetime revocation of your driver's license because under 316.655, I'll find that the revocation of your license for life is warranted under the circumstances of your particular driving record, your history; your driving history.

I'll make the finding that the lifetime revocation of your driver's license is appropriate because when taking into consideration all of the circumstances that surround this case, a person is dead because you were driving a car when you shouldn't have been driving that car on a suspended driver's license; a person is dead because you were driving a car while you were drunk.

The issue of causation really doesn't even come into play in regard to this decision because it's axiomatic. If you hadn't been driving the car on the night in question the time that the at crash occurred, Brian Wilson would still have his leg and Ms. Levero would presumably still be alive. So whether causation was established or not -- and the jury found that it was not -- makes no difference in regard to the determination that your driver's license privileges should be revoked for life.

With your record, with your pertinacious disregard for the orders of court ordering you not to drive a car -- understanding that you're not to drive while you're drinking anyway, not to drive while you're drunk anyway -- you did. And so the maximum safety for all of the persons who travel the highways of this state needs to be protected by ordering you never again to have the privilege of driving an automobile in the State of Florida. So your driver's license is revoked for life, and those are the reasons why.

(R 184-185)

No legal objection to the trial court's order was made. Prior to the actual pronouncement of sentence, during argument, the Petitioner's trial counsel asked the court:

> A lifetime suspension for somebody who we know is going to be a young mother, Judge, it doesn't serve any purpose. If she's going to be productive member of society, she's going to be a productive member of society. And suspending her license for a lifetime is not going to serve anybody.

> And I know, and I see the Court looking at her record and I understand it's lengthy, but look what we're talking about again: A young person gaining quite a driving history between age 16, 17, 18 to age 22 or 23. Now she is 25 years old. It's been two years since this happened. She's had certainly some events that occurred in her life. If this event doesn't impact her to not drive on a suspended license and to not drive after drinking or anything like that, then imposing a lifetime suspension certainly isn't, Your Honor. Thank you.

#### (R 174)

During a brief hearing on the motion to correct sentence held on May 9, 2002, the only issue presented was whether that portion of the Petitioner's sentence dealing with lifetime revocation of her driver's license was legal. (R 198) The State argued that <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) did not apply to the case at bar since it dealt with only a second DUI offense. (R 199) The trial court indicated that that was the argument before and then denied the motion. (R 200)

The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed, saying:

We cannot agree with <u>Whipple</u>. Rather, we conclude that there is no conflict between sections 316.655(2) and 322.28(2)(a)(2), and that both permit the trial court's permanent revocation of Stoletz's license. Section 322.28(2) provides that upon a conviction of a driver for DUI, the trial court shall revoke the driver's license of the defendant "in accordance with the following provisions." Section 322.28(2)(a)(2) states:

Upon a second conviction for an offense that occurs within five years after the date of a prior conviction for a violation of the provisions of s. 316.193 or former s.316.1931 or a combination of such sections, the drivers license or driving privilege shall be revoked for not less than 5 years.

(Emphasis supplied.) Thus, nothing in section 322.28(2)(a)(2) prohibits a court from imposing a term of suspension or revocation longer than five years for a second conviction for DUI, and section 316.655(2) specifically permits a court to do so. There is no argument in this case that the trial court abused its discretion in determining that the totality of the circumstances here justify the lifetime revocation of Ms. Stolenz's license under section 316.655(2). Stoletz v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly 234 (Fla. 2d DCA January 17, 2003)

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly considered the totality of the circumstances of the accident, the Petitioner's driving history and the death and injuries caused by her actions in determining the length of revocation.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

## THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED THE PETITIONER'S DRIVER'S LICENSE REVOKED FOR LIFE (RESTATED).

Contrary to the Petitioner's claim, her driver's license was not revoked for her lifetime based upon only a second conviction for driving under the influence. In fact, the Petitioner was convicted not only of driving under the influence, but also on her prior plea, of driving while license suspended, habitual traffic offender. (R 115)

In this case, it is clear from the record as a whole, that her actions resulted in the death of one victim and the serious injury of others. (See Petitioner's brief, page 3), though the jury only convicted her of three counts of driving under the influence. (R 96-97)

As the Fourth District held in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 744 So.2d 1090 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999):

Reed was involved in a fatal automobile accident and was charged with manslaughter and vehicular homicide. He was found guilty of reckless driving, a lesser-included offense of vehicular homicide. It is undisputed that the victim died at the scene.

Section 316.655(2) provides in pertinent part:

Drivers convicted of a violation of any offense prohibited by this chapter or any other law of this state regulating motor vehicles may have their driving privileges revoked or suspended by the court if the court finds such revocation or suspension warranted by the totality of the circumstances....In whether determining suspension or revocation is appropriate, the court shall consider all pertinent factors, including, but not limited to, such factors as the extent and nature of the driver's violation of this chapter, the number of persons killed or injured as the result of the driver's violation of this chapter, and the extent of any property damage resulting from the driver's violation of this chapter.

§ 316.655(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp.1996).

We recognize that a trial court may not impose punishment for an act with regard to which the defendant was acquitted. Here, however, although Reed was not convicted of manslaughter or vehicular homicide, the trial court had discretion to consider the totality of the circumstances, including the fact that a death occurred, in deciding whether to revoke or suspend Reed's driving privileges.

<u>Reed</u> at 1091.

The situation in this case is analogous to that in <u>Reed</u> and is distinguishable from <u>Whipple v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) cited by the Petitioner. In <u>Whipple</u>, no allegation that a death resulted from the violation is found, nor was the defendant in that case driving on a revoked license as a habitual traffic offender. As support for <u>Whipple</u>, Petitioner also cites <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). Though this case involves three DUI convictions,

7

added to a prior conviction, the three convictions, as in the instant case, arise from a single incident. Also, like <u>Whipple</u>, in <u>Jackson</u> there is no attendant conviction for driving while license suspended as a habitual offender.

In the instant case, as the Second District found, nothing in the language of section 322.28 mandates a five-year revocation. The statute clearly states "not less than five years." The trial court made a specific finding:

> On the driver's license, the driver's license will be suspended for life. You have a lifetime revocation of your driver's license because under 316.655, I'll find that the revocation of your license for life is warranted under the circumstances of your particular driving record, your history; your driving history.

> I'll make the finding that the lifetime revocation of your driver's license is appropriate because when taking into consideration all of the circumstances that surround this case, a person is dead because you were driving a car when you shouldn't have been driving that car on a suspended driver's license; a person is dead because you were driving a car while you were drunk.

> The issue of causation really doesn't even come into play in regard to this decision because it's axiomatic. If you hadn't been driving the car on the night in question at the time that the crash occurred, Brian Wilson would still have his leg and Ms Levero would presumably still be alive. So whether causation was established or not -- and the jury found that it was not -- makes no difference in regard to the determination that your driver's license privileges should be revoked for life.

> > 8

With your record, with your pertinacious disregard for the orders of court ordering you not to drive a car -- understanding that you're not to drive while you're drinking anyway, not to drive while you're drunk anyway -- you did. And so the maximum safety for all of the persons who travel the highways of this state needs to be protected by ordering you never again to have the privilege of driving an automobile in the Sate of Florida. So your driver's license is revoked for life, and those are the reasons why.

#### (R 184-185)

Petitioner argues that since section 322.28 is specific and only applies to DUI offenses it therefore controls. This argument completely ignores the fact that the Petitioner also pled to driving while her license was suspended, as a habitual offender.

The trial court did not err in revoking the Petitioner's driver's license for her lifetime, the Second District properly found that the sentencing options before the trial court included a minimum suspension of five years or as the trial court determined, a suspension for life.

9

#### CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that Petitioner's convictions and sentences be affirmed.